FILED
Dec 02, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 92655-7

FILED

JAN 22 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 71855-0-I

TRACI TURNER,

Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

VULCAN, INC., et al.,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

REBECCA J. ROE, WSBA #7560 KATHRYN GOATER, WSBA#9648 SCHROETER GOLDMARK & BENDER

> 810 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, Washington 98104 206/622-8000

CARLA TACHAU LAWRENCE, WSBA #14120 (Of Counsel)

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does *Turner's* ruling that the arbitrator decides gateway issues of contract formation conflict with decisions of this Court, *e.g.*, *Hill v. Garda CL Nw.*, *Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 47, 53, 308 P.3d 635 (2013), *cert. denied*, 134 S. Ct. 2821, 189 L. Ed. 2d 785 (2014), holding that contract formation defenses are gateway issues for the court? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).
- 2. Does *Turner* conflict with the Court of Appeals' opinion issued the next day in *Mayne v. Monaco Enterprises, Inc.*, that an employer presenting an arbitration agreement to an already-existing employee must ameliorate the coercive impact of the "offer," in order to protect against

procedural unconscionability and to ensure the employee's waiver of her constitutional right to a jury trial is voluntary? RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3).

- 3. Does *Turner's* ruling affirming remand of the vacated attorney fees award, which was a violation of public policy, conflict with this Court's decisions in, *e.g.*, *LaCoursiere*? RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- 4. Do the above questions present issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE²

When Vulcan hired Turner as a senior executive protection (EP) specialist in January 2011, she signed an Employee Intellectual Property Agreement (EIPA), providing for attorney fees to the prevailing party in an employment dispute. The EIPA contained no arbitration clause. CP 2359-63. Seven months later, in July 2011, under threat of losing her job, Turner signed a Guaranteed Bonus Agreement (GBA), releasing any then-existing claims against Vulcan, and agreeing to confidential arbitration of disputes. In exchange, Turner was given a so-called "guaranteed bonus payment", which bonuses Vulcan had previously routinely awarded EP employees. CP 2623, 2851, 3212-13.

² Unless otherwise cited, the facts are set forth in the *Turner* opinion.

³ The GBA's arbitration clause states: "Any and all claims, disputes, or other matters in controversy on any subject arising out of or related to this Agreement and your employment shall be subject to confidential arbitration." CP 281 (Appendix C).

After Turner was constructively discharged in September 2011, she filed an employment discrimination suit against Vulcan (*Turner I*). Vulcan immediately filed a six-day motion to compel arbitration based on the GBA's arbitration clause. Turner opposed the motion on several grounds including unconscionability, and noted that summary judgment standards applied. CP 75-79. Judge Patrick Oishi granted the motion to compel arbitration. Turner moved for reconsideration, and then voluntarily dismissed the case on November 1, 2011, to allow mediation. Mediation was unsuccessful.

On December 14, 2011, Vulcan initiated arbitration proceedings asserting several claims against Turner. Turner changed counsel. On January 27, 2012, Turner filed a second lawsuit in superior court (*Turner II*), which was assigned to Judge Monica Benton. Vulcan moved to dismiss *Turner II* based on res judicata and issue preclusion, and alternatively to again compel arbitration under the GBA. On June 8, 2012, the court dismissed the first five claims in *Turner II* based on Judge Oishi's order to compel arbitration, and dismissed the remaining five claims to be included in the ongoing arbitration. By this time, the AAA had already billed Turner over \$20,000 in arbitration fees she could not afford. CP 2454; CP 1813, 1822, 1824-25, 2430.

On August 27, 2012, Turner's attorney withdrew. On September 7, 2012, Turner (pro se) requested a four-month continuance. The arbitrator denied the continuance without prejudice. On October 17, 2012, Turner withdrew from the arbitration. The arbitration took place on November 26, 2012, without Turner. On December 21, 2012, the arbitrator dismissed Turner's claims with prejudice and awarded Vulcan \$5,696.63 for breach of contract (repayment of relocation expenses). On March 7, 2013, the arbitrator further awarded Vulcan \$113,235.00 in attorney fees under the EIPA.

In April, 2013, Turner (now represented by current counsel) moved to vacate the final award, including the attorney fees award as a violation of public policy. Judge Bruce Heller confirmed the award of \$5,696.63 to Vulcan, and vacated all attorney fees as against public policy. On Vulcan's request following that order, the court remanded the matter to the arbitrator to consider Vulcan's alternative fee request. On remand, the arbitrator awarded \$39,524.50 in attorney fees to Vulcan for two partial summary judgment motions. Turner appealed. Vulcan cross-appealed from the remanded, reduced attorney fees award.

The Court of Appeals ruled that because Turner had challenged the GBA "as a whole," and the GBA incorporated the AAA rules, the arbitrator, not the court, had the authority to decide whether the arbitration

clause was valid and enforceable. Slip. op., 11-14. The court concluded the language, "any arbitration proceedings ... shall be conducted ... in accordance with applicable AAA Rules," CP 281, was a clear and unmistakable expression that the parties intended to have the arbitrator decide whether the dispute was subject to arbitration. Slip op., 13. This decision allowed the court to avoid the fact that neither Judge Oishi nor Judge Benton applied the necessary summary judgment standards, which required an evidentiary hearing on Turner's contract formation defenses. Turner does not waive any of her defenses on review.

Despite these reversible errors, the Court of Appeals proceeded to resolve disputed issues of material fact on unconscionability against Turner, as a matter of law. Slip op., 14-16. The court held the GBA was not procedurally unconscionable because it gave her the option (24 hours) to seek legal advice and find the AAA rules before signing. The court ignored the undisputed fact that Turner believed she would be fired if she did not sign. CP 585-86, 622-23, 643, 43212-16. 5 Instead, *Turner* focused

⁴ Vulcan's then-Director of Security Kathy Leodler.

⁵ CP 3212-16 (Vulcan Human Resources Director Laura Macdonald testified the entire EP team would lose their jobs if they did not sign the GBA "urgently"). Vulcan did not clearly dispute Turner's belief that she would be fired if she did not sign, but rather vaguely claimed it was undecided what would happen to those who refused to sign the document, admitting that no one declined to sign. CP 3214 (Macdonald: "I don't believe that was ever decided"), 3216. In the trial court, Vulcan conceded it was significantly different if Turner was told she would lose her job if she did not sign, then argued that Turner should have presented this contention to Judge Oishi. CP 4129.

on the lack of "evidence that Turner sought additional time" or that she felt she needed legal advice, implying 24 hours was enough time to remove procedural unconscionability. *Id.*, 15.

The court agreed that the attorney fees award violated public policy as to statutory employment and wage claims, but affirmed the award of fees to Vulcan for prevailing on two partial summary judgment motions regarding defamation and the validity of the release. While noting that this "is largely an employment dispute based primarily on an employee's statutory claims", slip op., 1, the court concluded that the issues on the two motions "are not necessarily intertwined with statutory claims under the WLAD and the MWA." Slip op., 20-25.

The court held the arbitration agreement did not violate Turner's constitutional right to a jury trial or the separation of powers doctrine. Slip. op., 19-20. The court denied attorney fees on appeal to either party. Slip op., 25.

⁶ Washington Law Against Discrimination, RCW Chapter 49.60; Washington Minimum Wage Act, RCW Chapter 49.46.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. Turner Conflicts With This Court's Clear Holding That The Existence Of A Contract To Arbitrate Is A Gateway Issue For the Court.
 - 1. Turner Disputed That She Ever Agreed to Arbitrate, A Gateway Matter For The Court.

The court, not the arbitrator, must decide challenges to a contract's very existence before compelling arbitration. *E.g.*, *Hill*, at 53 (citing *Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi*, *LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 809-10, 225 P.3d 213 (2009)); *Saleemi v. Doctor's Associates, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 368, 377-78, 292 P.3d 108 (2013). In *Hill*, recognizing that a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration when she has not agreed to it, this Court held:

To that end, we have recognized our authority to decide "gateway dispute[s]." ... These types of disputes go to the validity of the contract and are preserved for judicial determination, as opposed to arbitrator determination, unless the parties' agreement clearly and unmistakably provides otherwise. ... Unconscionability is one such gateway dispute.

Hill, at 53 (citing, e.g., Satomi, at 809); McKee v. AT&T Corp., 164 Wn.2d 372, 404, 191 P.3d 845 (2008) ("Courts, not arbitrators, decide the validity of arbitration agreements"); Romney v. Franciscan Med. Grp., 186 Wn. App. 728, 735, 349 P.3d 32, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1004 (2015) (policy favoring arbitration "does not ... lessen this court's responsibility to determine whether the arbitration contract is valid"; unconscionability "is a preliminary question for judicial consideration"; citing Hill, at 53). See also, e.g., Three Valleys Mun. Water Dist. v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 925

F.2d 1136, 1140-41 (9th Cir. 1991) ("challenges going to the very existence of a contract that a party claims never to have agreed to" are for court); *Sanford v. MemberWorks, Inc.*, 483 F.3d 956, 962-64 (9th Cir. 2007) ("challenges to the *existence* of a contract as a whole must be determined by the court prior to ordering arbitration").⁷

Nevertheless, to affirm the orders compelling arbitration, the Court of Appeals concluded Turner was attacking the "whole contract," which delegated contract formation to the arbitrator by adopting the AAA rules.⁸

In Brown v. MHN Gov't Servs., Inc., 178 Wn.2d 258, 264-65, 306 P.3d 948 (2013), 9 Romney, 10 and Gorden v. Lloyd Ward & Associates,

^{7 &}quot;The order ...interpreted *Prima Paint* as mandating that the court decide all challenges to an arbitration clause but the arbitrator decide all challenges to the contract as a whole. We rejected this argument in *Three Valleys*". *Id.* at 963-64. *See also Olsen v. U.S. ex rel. Fed. Crop Ins. Corp.*, 334 F. App'x 834, 835 (9th Cir. 2009) (rejecting contention that defendant challenged "validity of the whole contract," when defendant contended it had not consented to arbitration; broad arbitration language adopting AAA rules, *Olsen v. U.S. ex rel. U.S. Dep't of Agric.*, 546 F.Supp.2d 1122, 1125 (E.D. Wash. 2008), *aff'd*, 334 F. App'x 834 (9th Cir. 2009)); *Kum Tat Ltd. v. Linden Ox Pasture, LLC*, No. 14-CV-02857-WHO, 2014 WL 6882421, at *4-6 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 5, 2014); *Oracle Am., Inc. v. Myriad Group A. G.*, 724 F.3d 1069, 1072 (9th Cir. 2013) ("presumption in favor of arbitrability applies only where the *scope* of the agreement is ambiguous as to the dispute at hand").

The court did not cite to the only Washington case Turner is aware of in which the Court concluded plaintiffs challenged the entire contract, *Townsend v. Quadrant Corp.*, 173 Wn.2d 451, 458-60, 268 P.3d 917 (2012) (distinguishing the case *Turner* relies on, *McKee v. AT&T Corp.*, 164 Wn.2d 372, 191 P.3d 845 (2008)). In *Townsend*, plaintiffs' claims against an entire multi-page agreement, including a "minor" arbitration provision, were "inseparable"; "one could decide whether the arbitration clause is unenforceable only by deciding whether the PSA as a whole is unenforceable." *Id.* As in *Mayne*, Turner's situation as an already-existing employee presented with the option to sign or be fired is entirely different.

[&]quot;[A]any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement ... shall be settled by final and binding arbitration" under AAA provisions. Resp. Br., 2 (https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/879532%20Respondents'%20Brief.pdf).

P.C., 180 Wn. App. 552, 562-63, 323 P.3d 1074 (2014),¹¹ analyzing broad language in the arbitration clause, the courts did not perceive any delegation of gateway issues to the arbitrator. Based on this similarly broad language, this Court held: "the issue of arbitrability has not been clearly and unmistakably delegated to the arbitrator on the face of the contract. Therefore, it is proper for us to determine the enforceability of the agreement."¹²

"The 'clear and unmistakable' standard is exacting, and the presence of an expansive arbitration clause, without more, will not suffice." *Peabody Holding Co., LLC v. United Mine Workers of Am., Int'l Union,* 665 F.3d 96, 102 (4th Cir. 2012).

¹⁰ "[T]he arbitrability issue has not been clearly and unmistakably delegated to the arbitrator on the face of the contract. Thus, the trial court ... had subject matter jurisdiction to determine the arbitration agreement's enforceability." *Id.* The arbitration clause in *Romney* required the parties to "arbitrate all Claims" between them; claims were defined as "all disputes arising out of or related to the Employment Agreement," or the employment or separation from employment. Resp. Br., 9. (https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A01/716255%20Respondent's.pdf).

¹¹ The parties agreed to mediate or arbitrate "any complaint against Firm prior to the initiation of any public or private complaints or claims of any kind against LWG". *Id.*

¹² "A threshold dispute as to whether an arbitration agreement is unconscionable is ordinarily a decision for the court and not the arbitrator." *Brown*, at 264-65. California law applied to the controversy, but Washington law applying the FAA is the same, as demonstrated by the Washington Court of Appeals' adoption of this holding in *Gorden* (applying Washington law).

The *Turner* court relied heavily on the fact that in *Preston v. Ferrer*, 552 U.S. 346, 128 S.Ct. 978, 984, 169 L.Ed.2d 915 (2008), ¹³ the arbitration clause in the contract at issue adopted the AAA rules, which allow the arbitrator to determine the validity of a contract. Slip op., 13 (citing *Fallo v. High-Tech Inst.*, 559 F.3d 874, 878 (8th Cir. 2009)). ¹⁴ State courts are not bound by this unresolved split in federal contract law. Even under the FAA, the threshold question of what a contract says is a matter of state interpretational law. *E.g.*, *Hill*, 179 Wn.2d at 53-58. *See First Options of Chicago*, *Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S.Ct. 1920, 1924, 131 L.Ed.2d 985 (1995). ¹⁵

_ 1

¹³ In determining that Turner challenged the whole contract, the *Turner* court relied on *McKee*, 164 Wn.2d at 383-84, 394, which distinguished *Preston*. In *Preston*, "there was no discrete challenge to the arbitration clause". In *McKee*, however, plaintiff's challenge related only to the dispute resolution/arbitration section of a consumer services agreement.

agreement.

14 The parties were a former judge (plaintiff) and a lawyer (defendant). Defendant interpreted the choice-of-law clause to call for exclusive jurisdiction with the California Labor Commissioner, not an arbitrator. *Id.*, 552 U.S. at 361. The parties' adoption of the AAA rules in *Preston* was just one factor in rejecting plaintiff's reliance on a choice-of-law clause in the contract.

¹⁵ See, e.g., Tompkins v. 23andMe, Inc., No. 5:13-CV-05682-LHK, 2014 WL 2903752, at *11 (N.D. Cal. June 25, 2014) ("a bare reference to the AAA rules in [defendant's] ... contract does not show that the parties clearly and unmistakably intended to delegate arbitrability"); Brennan v. Opus Bank, 796 F.3d 1125, 1131 (9th Cir. 2015) (limiting holding to facts involving an arbitration agreement "between sophisticated parties"; citing Oracle America, Inc. v. Myriad Group A.G., 724 F.3d 1069, 1074-75 & n.2 (9th Cir. 2013) ("We express no view as to the effect of incorporating arbitration rules into consumer contracts.").

2. By Affirming Orders Compelling Arbitration On An Incomplete, Disputed Factual Record, *Turner* Conflicts With The FAA and Washington Law.

The *Turner* court's resolution of both motions to compel allowed it to avoid the fact that the trial court never held a required hearing on Turner's contract formation defenses. In turn, the court did not need to address Vulcan's arguments that Judge Oishi's order had preclusive effect (res judicata/collateral estoppel). ¹⁶

A motion to compel arbitration is decided according to the standards for summary judgment under CR 56. "If there is doubt as to whether such an agreement exists, the matter, upon a proper and timely demand, should be submitted to a jury." *Three Valleys*, 925 F.2d at 1141; 9 U.S.C. § 4. The court gives the party opposing a motion to compel arbitration "the benefit of all reasonable doubts and inferences that may arise." *Three Valleys*, at 1141. Where "the making of the arbitration

While Washington law is quite clear that the gateway matter whether a contract exists is for the court, in some instances, the line between issues that are for the court and those for the arbitrator can be difficult to discern. Taking advantage of this difficulty, Vulcan constructed contradictory arguments to the trial court regarding who was authorized to decide which of these "questions of arbitrability." Vulcan argued to Judge Oishi that all issues of arbitrability and unconscionability were for the arbitrator, not the court. CP 4139, 4214-15. Vulcan then urged Judge Benton to order arbitration because Judge Oishi had already decided the exact same issues (triggering issue or claim preclusion), and blamed Turner for not previously convincing Judge Oishi. CP 1991, 2008-09, 4129, 4222, 4233-34. These circumstances amplify the prejudice resulting from the Court of Appeals' ruling that Turner challenged the "whole contract" and agreed to have the arbitrator decide gateway issues. See, e.g., Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson, 561 U.S. 63, 78, 130 S.Ct. 2772, 177 L.Ed.2d 403 (2010) (Stevens J., dissenting). The FAA suggests courts have the authority to consider both before compelling arbitration. 9 U.S.C. § 4 (allowing courts to consider "making" of arbitration agreement).

agreement" is at issue, "the court shall proceed summarily to the trial thereof." 9 U.S.C. § 4; Switch, LLC v. ixmation, Inc., No. 15-CV-01637-MEJ, 2015 WL 4463672, at *3 (N.D. Cal. July 21, 2015) (quoting Sanford, at 962; Three Valleys, at 1140-41).

In *Switch*, examining two agreements (one containing an arbitration provision) the court held that state contract principles were "difficult to apply on an undeveloped record with so many factual issues" and it was "not clear from the documents themselves that an agreement to arbitrate exists." "If there is doubt as to whether an express, unequivocal agreement to arbitrate exists, the matter should be submitted to a jury." *Id.* at *4.¹⁷ *See also Adler v. Fred Lind Manor*, 153 Wn.2d 331, 350-51, 103 P.3d 773 (2004) (remand for resolution of factual questions on procedural unconscionability); *Walters v. AAA Waterproofing, Inc.*, 151 Wn. App.

¹⁷ Citing Concat LP v. Unilever, PLC, 350 F.Supp.2d 796, 804 (N.D.Cal.2004) (where motion to compel arbitration "is opposed on the ground that no agreement to arbitrate was made," court should apply a summary judgment-type standard); e.g., Kwan v. Clearwire Corp., No. C09-1392JLR, 2012 WL 32380, at *10 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 3, 2012) (declining to resolve disputed issues as to plaintiff's notice of arbitration agreement); E.E.O.C. v. Fry's Elecs., Inc., No. C10-1562RSL, 2011 WL 666328, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 14, 2011) ("Where there is conflicting evidence regarding one party's assent to the arbitration agreement, the parties will not be forced to arbitrate unless and until it is finally determined that a binding agreement was formed"; proceeding "summarily to a trial"); In re Park W. Galleries, Inc., Mktg. & Sales Practices Litig., No. 09-2076RSL, 2010 WL 3732910, at *2 (W.D. Wash, Sept. 17, 2010) ("There being a genuine issue of material fact regarding the formation of the contract, plaintiffs cannot be compelled to arbitrate this threshold issue."); Guidotti v. Legal Helpers Debt Resolution, L.L.C., 716 F.3d 764 (3d Cir. 2013) (plaintiff came forward with sufficient evidence that she did not agree to or intend to be bound by arbitration provision, triggering summary judgment standard to motion to compel arbitration).

316, 320-22, 211 P.3d 454 (2009) (ruling on denied summary judgment motion where facts were undisputed).

The orders improperly compelling arbitration denied Turner her right to the benefit of summary judgment standards which would have led to an evidentiary hearing on the disputed facts whether she ever agreed to Vulcan's arbitration clause.

B. Turner Conflicts With The Court Of Appeals' On-Point Decision In Mayne.

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