RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 04, 2016, 4:27 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 92655-

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

TRACI TURNER,

Petitioner,

v.

VULCAN INC., PAUL ALLEN, JODY ALLEN, RAY COLLIVER, and LAURA MACDONALD,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF RESPONDENTS VULCAN INC., PAUL ALLEN, AND JODY ALLEN

Harry H. Schneider, Jr., WSBA No. 9404 Kevin J. Hamilton, WSBA No. 15648 Zachary Pekelis Jones, WSBA No. 44557 PERKINS COIE LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 Seattle, WA 98101-3099 Telephone: 206.359.8000

Facsimile: 206.359.8000

Attorneys for Respondents Vulcan Inc., Paul Allen, and Jody Allen

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

only the first type of challenge is decided by the court; a challenge to the contract as a whole is for the arbitrator. The U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly "reaffirm[ed]" *Prima Paint*'s rule that "a challenge to the validity of the contract as a whole, and not specifically to the arbitration clause, must go to the arbitrator." *Buckeye*, 546 U.S. at 449; *see*, *e.g.*, *Rent-A-Center West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 70-71 (2010); *Preston v. Ferrer*, 552 U.S. 346, 349 (2008).

The *Prima Paint* rule applies in state as well as federal courts in disputes governed by the FAA, as here. *Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 301 (FAA "create[s] a body of federal substantive law of arbitrability" that "[b]oth state and federal courts must enforce.") (internal quotation marks omitted). And *Prima Paint* provides a simple rule in cases of this sort: a challenge to the contract as a whole is *for the arbitrator*. *See Townsend v. Quadrant Corp.*, 173 Wn.2d 451, 460 (2012) (the procedural unconscionability challenge "relate[s] to the [agreement] as a whole" so is "a matter reserved for the arbitrator") (internal quotation marks omitted). Turner invites the Court to ignore *Prima Paint* and misuse the "clear and unmistakable" delegation principle in this context, where it does not apply. *See* Pet. 10-12; Vulcan Ans. Br. (*Turner III*), at 18 n.7; *Buckeye*, 546 U.S. at 449.

The crux of Turner's argument is that the GBA was procedurally unconscionable because she was forced to sign it "under threat of

termination." Pet. 2. That argument is not only factually inaccurate, *see infra* at 14-16, but it clearly implicates the entire GBA, not merely its arbitration provision. (Turner also challenged the GBA's release provision. CP 4-5.) In other words, because the defense concerns the circumstances surrounding Turner's acceptance of the GBA, it challenges the whole agreement. *See Townsend*, 173 Wn.2d at 459-60 (procedural unconscionability defense pertained to agreement as a whole where it was based on "deni[al of] the opportunity to review and question the terms of the agreements before signing them" and "high-pressure sales tactics"). Here, as in *Townsend*, "one [can] decide whether the arbitration clause" of the GBA is procedurally unconscionable "only by deciding whether the [agreement] as a whole is unenforceable." *Id.* at 460. Thus, Turner's procedural unconscionability defense was for the Arbitrator to decide.

In her attempt to avoid application of *Prima Paint*, Turner's petition relies on dicta in cases that are fundamentally distinguishable and that, in any event, could not alter binding U.S. Supreme Court precedent. For example, the statement in *Hill v. Garda CL Northwest, Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 47, 53 (2013), that "[u]nconscionability is one such gateway dispute" for courts to resolve refers to a *substantive* unconscionability challenge directed at the arbitration clause itself—there was no issue of *procedural* unconscionability directed to the contract as a whole.

Similarly, *Saleemi v. Doctor's Associates, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 368 (2013), is not on point because there the allegation was that specific arbitration terms were substantively unconscionable. *Id.* at 377 ("[Respondents] are not challenging the contract as a whole, only the enforceability of a few of its dispute resolution provisions."). And in *McKee*, 164 Wn.2d at 401-02, the court concluded that terms in the arbitration provision were substantively unconscionable, so it expressly did not reach the issue of procedural unconscionability (or who adjudicates it).

Nor does *Brown v. MHN Government Services, Inc.*, 178 Wn.2d 258 (2013), in any way undermine the *Prima Paint* rule. Its holding is expressly "limited to the facts of th[at] case because [the court had to] apply California law." *Id.* at 262. In addition, the Court (1) held that a provision *specific to the arbitration clause* was procedurally unconscionable, (2) discussed the broad-based challenges to procedural unconscionability in passing (rejecting them), and (3) did not address the *Prima Paint* line of cases at all, because the issue was not raised by the parties. *Id.* at 267-68. Similarly, in *Gorden v. Lloyd Ward & Associates, P.C.*, 180 Wn. App. 552, 562-64 (2014), the procedural unconscionability challenge was specific to the arbitration provision (no attorney explained to the client the arbitration provision in a retainer agreement). In any event, the Court of Appeals' general statements of who decides

unconscionability fail to acknowledge or address the *Prima Paint* line of cases. *See id.* at 562-63. Finally, in *Romney v. Franciscan Medical Group*, 186 Wn. App. 728 (2015), the *Prima Paint* question of who decides was not raised and the case arguably involved a standalone arbitration agreement (appendix to employment contract).

Here, in holding that Turner's procedural unconscionability challenge was for the arbitrator, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected the inapposite authority relied upon by Turner.

2. Turner was not entitled to a judicial hearing on her procedural unconscionability defense

Because Turner's procedural unconscionability defense was an issue for the arbitrator, Turner was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing in the trial court, as she contends for the first time in her petition.² Pet. 13. Although the FAA requires the court to decide the "threshold issue of the *existence* of an agreement to arbitrate," that issue is not presented in this case. *See Three Valleys Mun. Water Dist. v. E.F. Hutton & Co.*, 925 F.2d 1136, 1140-41 (9th Cir. 1991) (distinguishing challenges seeking to avoid or rescind a contract on grounds such as fraud and unconscionability—to which *Prima Paint* applies—from challenges to the very existence of a

² Turner did not request an evidentiary hearing in *Turner II*. Nor did she in *Turner I*, where she merely requested that Vulcan's motion to compel arbitration "be treated as a di[s]positive motion subject to CR 56 principles and oral argument." CP 79. Turner also failed to raise the issue before the Court of Appeals.

contract); see also Buckeye, 546 U.S. at 444 n.1 ("The issue of the contract's validity is different from the issue whether any agreement . . . was ever concluded. Our opinion . . . addresses only the former, and does not speak to the issue decided in the cases [that] hold that it is for courts to decide whether the alleged obligor ever signed the contract, whether the signor lacked authority to commit the alleged principal, and whether the signor lacked the mental capacity to assent.") (citations omitted).

Here, Turner has never disputed the *existence* of an agreement to arbitrate; she does not allege that her signature was forged or that the arbitration clause was inserted into the GBA after she signed it. Instead, Turner challenges the *enforceability* of an agreement whose existence is not in question. Even had Turner not forfeited her argument for an evidentiary hearing by failing to raise it in the courts below, it lacks merit.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That the Guaranteed Bonus Agreement Is Not Unconscionable

After recognizing that Turner's procedural unconscionability defense was for the arbitrator, the Court of Appeals considered an independent and alternative basis to affirm the Superior Court's orders compelling arbitration. Namely, the Court assessed the merits of Turner's defense—and squarely rejected it.

1. The Agreement is not procedurally unconscionable

As the party opposing arbitration, Turner bears the burden to prove

procedural unconscionability. *Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 302. She has failed to carry that burden. As this Court held in *Zuver*, "[a]t minimum, an employee who asserts an arbitration agreement is procedurally unconscionable must show some evidence that the employer" (1) "refused to respond to her questions or concerns," (2) "placed undue pressure on her to sign the agreement without providing her with a reasonable opportunity to consider its terms, and/or" (3) "that the terms of the agreement were set forth in such a way that an average person could not understand them." *Id.* at 306-07. This case meets none of those criteria.

First, there is no evidence that Turner even expressed any questions or concerns about the GBA, let alone that Vulcan refused to respond. To the contrary, Turner admits that she "did not even read the agreement" before signing it, but instead "simply turned the [GBA] to the last page and signed it." Turner III, 2015 WL 6684259, at *7. "A party who has the opportunity to read a plain and unambiguous instrument cannot claim to have either been misled by or ignorant of its terms." Id.

Second, Turner had a reasonable opportunity to consider the GBA's straightforward terms. The text of the agreement itself provided that Turner was entitled to seek independent legal advice. Id. As the Court of Appeals held, "the terms of the agreement were fully disclosed and Turner was afforded a reasonable opportunity to inspect the

agreement." *Id.* at *8. That Turner failed to avail herself of that opportunity does not render the GBA procedurally unconscionable. *See*, *e.g.*, *Crawford Prof'l Drugs, Inc. v. CVS Caremark Corp.*, 748 F.3d 249, 265 (5th Cir. 2014) (arbitration agreement not procedurally unconscionable where plaintiff chooses not to read it); *Bowie v. Clear Your Debt, LLC*, 523 F. App'x 315, 316 (6th Cir. 2013) (same).

Third, the terms of the GBA are clear and unambiguous, and "none of the paragraphs contained in the GBA were of small type or buried in a sea of fine print." Turner III, 2015 WL 6684259, at *8. If Turner had any questions, the agreement expressly "entitled [her] to seek the advice of [her] own counsel before executing" it. CP 282. Turner did not do so, because she failed even to read the agreement before signing it.

Under these circumstances, the Court of Appeals properly rejected Turner's procedural unconscionability argument. *See, e.g., Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 306, 307 (rejecting procedural unconscionability claim where employee "had ample opportunity to contact counsel . . . about the terms of the . . . [arbitration] agreement," which were "not hidden in a maze of fine print") (internal quotation marks omitted).

2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Mayne v. Monaco Enterprises, Inc.

Unable to show that the decision below departs from this Court's

precedent, Turner twists a recent Division III case in an attempt to concoct a conflict within the Court of Appeals. In reality, *Mayne v. Monaco*Enterprises, Inc., 361 P.3d 264 (Wash. App. 2015), is perfectly consistent with the decision below.

In *Mayne*, 361 P.3d at 268, the employer presented a nine-year veteran of the company with a take-it-or-leave-it arbitration agreement that expressly stated he "would be fired if he did not consent to execute the agreement." Distinguishing *Zuver*, the court held that the agreement was procedurally unconscionable because it left the employee with "no meaningful choice." *Id.* At the same time, an employer may "condition employment upon the employee . . . *voluntarily* signing an arbitration agreement." *Id.* at 268-69. But in communicating its policy, an employer should take "some action to ameliorate the coercive impact . . . to ensure a voluntary decision." *Id.* at 269. Thus, "the employee could be offered *a reasonable time to sign* before voluntarily leaving employment, or could be offered *some incentive as consideration*" for agreeing to arbitration. *Id.* at 269 (footnote omitted, emphasis added).

In Turner's case, Vulcan took each of the ameliorative steps identified in *Mayne*: the GBA offered Turner consideration in the form of a \$25,000 guaranteed bonus, and it expressly recognized Turner's right to consult with her own counsel before executing the agreement. CP 280-83.

Although Turner claims she *believed* she would be fired if she did not sign the GBA, her unadorned suspicion is a far cry from the coercive agreement in *Mayne*, which not only contained an explicit threat that the employee would be fired if he refused to sign, it offered no independent "incentive as consideration" for his acceptance. *Mayne*, 361 P.3d at 269 (footnote omitted).³ *Mayne* is doubly distinguishable from this case.

For those reasons, Turner fails to identify any conflict between the decision below and either a precedent of this Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals. *See* RAP 13.4(b). Quite the opposite: the governing case law fully supports the Court of Appeals' conclusion here that the GBA is not procedurally unconscionable. Indeed, Turner has raised her procedural unconscionability defense to six judges—Judge Oishi, Judge Benton, Judge Heller, and the three judges on the Court of Appeals panel—and all six judges have rejected it. So, too, should this Court.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Award to Vulcan of Attorney Fees Limited to Nonstatutory Claims

The final question raised by Turner's petition is whether the award

was threatened with losing her job if she did not sign was inconsequential." Pet. 15; see also Turner III, 2015 WL 6684259, at *7-*8. The court observed only that "Turner said she felt she would be fired if she did not sign the agreement within 24 hours." Id. at *7.

³ Turner mischaracterizes the record by claiming that "Vulcan Human Resources Director Laura Macdonald testified the entire EP team would lose their jobs if they did not sign the GBA 'urgently." Pet. 7 n.5. In fact, Macdonald testified only that there was a sense of urgency to get the GBA signed. CP 3213-14. Relatedly, Turner mischaracterizes the decision below by contending "[t]he Court of Appeals concluded that because Turner had 24 hours to consult an attorney before signing the arbitration clause, the fact [sic] that she was threatened with losing her job if she did not sign was incorrequential." Pet. 15: see

violates public policy by awarding Vulcan attorney fees it incurred on two nonstatutory claims. The Court of Appeals properly upheld the award.

As an initial matter, review is unwarranted because Turner first raised the issue on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). Before Judge Heller, Turner did not oppose confirmation of the amended arbitration award, which included the revised fee award. CP 3640-47. Instead, Turner asked the Court to award fees to *her*, based on its vacatur of the initial fee award. *Id*.

Not only did Turner forfeit any challenge to the revised fee award, her argument lacks merit. As Turner acknowledges, "'[j]udicial review of arbitration awards under the FAA is 'extremely narrow and exceedingly deferential.'" Pet. 18 n.22 (citation omitted) (quoting *UMass Mem'l Med. Ctr. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Union*, 527 F.3d 1, 5 (1st Cir. 2008)). Turner challenges the fee award on public policy grounds, but the "public policy exception [to enforcing arbitration awards] is limited to decisions that violate an 'explicit,' 'well defined,' and 'dominant' public policy, not simply 'general considerations of supposed public interests.'" *Kitsap Cnty. Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Kitsap Cnty.*, 167 Wn.2d 428, 435 (2009) (quoting *E. Associated Coal Corp. v. United Mine Workers*, 531 U.S. 57, 62 (2000)); *accord Matthews v. NFL Mgmt. Council*, 688 F.3d 1107, 1111 (9th Cir. 2012). Turner identifies no such policy implicating the revised award; she cites no case in which the court vacated an arbitral

fee award to an employer in connection with nonstatutory claims.

Instead, Turner points to inapposite decisions overturning fee awards to defendants prevailing on *statutory* employment claims. *See*, *e.g.*, *LaCoursiere v. Camwest Dev.*, *Inc.*, 181 Wn.2d 734, 748 (2014) ("[Plaintiff's] claim is grounded *exclusively* in the WRA [Wage Rebate Act]. He makes no claims on the employment agreement. Therefore, this suit arises out of the WRA, and we apply the attorney fee provision in the WRA.") (emphasis added). Proposing to extend that principle to bar fees for *any* claim in a dispute between an employee and an employer, Turner in effect asks this Court to establish a new public policy exception to enforcing arbitration awards. That alone confirms that no such "explicit, well-defined, and dominant" public policy exists under current law.

Accordingly, Turner has provided no sound basis to revisit the settled precedents of this Court, to depart from the clear rules of federal arbitration law, or to undercut the judgment of the Court of Appeals.

CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.